**RECEIVED**

**Jan 05 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT  
Robert L. Reibold, Administrative Law Judge

---

ALC Case No. 24-ALJ-30-0425-AP

---

Omar Brown, Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy, Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2025-001354

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Adam Sinclair Ruffin  
SC Bar No. 101350  
1320 Main Street, Suite 300  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 470-5629  
adam@ruffinappeals.com

Attorney for Omar Brown

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1.

Whether the ALC erred in finding that Mr. Brown's due process rights were not violated by the Department's refusal to provide him with the evidence it intended to use against him prior to his contested case hearing?

2.

Whether the ALC erred in finding that that Hearing Officer properly excluded evidence of Sanchez's prior inconsistent statement where Sanchez denied making the statement and his credibility was central to the case?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a final decision by the South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy (Agency) permanently denying Omar Brown a law enforcement certification. (R. p. 3).

Omar Brown was accused of misconduct by the North Charleston Police Department (Department) and requested a contested case hearing. (R. p. 3). An initial hearing was conducted by a Hearing Officer with the Agency. (R. pp. 24 – 147). Mr. Brown represented himself and the Department was represented by Carlton Bourne. (R. p. 25). The Hearing Officer recommended that the Agency find that Mr. Brown engaged in misconduct. (R. pp. 14 – 22).

The South Carolina Law Enforcement Training Council (Council) met to determine whether to adopt the Hearing Officer's recommendation. The Council determined that the Department had proven by a preponderance of the evidence that Mr. Brown lied about being offered medical treatment following an arrest he made of a suspect, and that he impermissibly used a chokehold on the suspect. The Council voted in favor of permanently denying Mr. Brown a law enforcement certification in South Carolina. (R. pp. 8 – 11).

Mr. Brown appealed the decision to the ALC (Administrative Law Court). Undersigned Counsel represented Mr. Brown on his appeal to the ALC and Rebecca Williams represented the Agency. The ALC affirmed the Agency's decision and denied Mr. Brown's motion for rehearing.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

Section 1-23-610 (B) of the South Carolina Code provides the standard of review in appeals from the Administrative Law Court:

(B) The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court of appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

*See also S.C. Dep't of Corr. v. Mitchell*, 377 S.C. 256, 258, 659 S.E.2d 233, 234 (Ct. App. 2008) (noting that section 1-23-610 "sets forth the standard of review when the court of appeals is sitting in review of a decision by the ALC on an appeal from an administrative agency").

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Brown first became a police officer after attending the Criminal Justice Academy in the 1990s and has worked as a police officer ever since. He began working as a police officer for the North Charleston Police Department beginning in 2022. (R. p. 205, ll. 1 – 7).

On August 8, 2023, Mr. Brown was on patrol with another officer named Michael Sanchez. (R. p. 40, ll. 2 – 16). Mr. Brown and Sanchez responded to a call about a mother (suspect) attempting to kidnap her daughter from the child’s grandmother who had custody of the child. Sanchez recalled that there was an ongoing custody dispute that involved DSS placing the child with the grandmother. (R. p. 40, l. 12 – p. 41, l. 1). The suspect had a long history of mental health issues and neglecting her child. (R. p. 41, ll. 1 – 4). Sanchez testified: “[E]very time she’d get out of jail or the hospital, she would end up coming back to the house to try to take the child.” (R. p. 41, ll. 3 – 8).

Mr. Brown arrived on scene first, located the child and moved her to safety, and separated the suspect and the grandmother. (R. p. 6; State’s Ex. 1B, 0:00 – 2:00). When Sanchez arrived, he spoke to the suspect while Mr. Brown spoke with the grandmother. (R. p. 6; State’s Ex.s 1A & 1B). The suspect was visibly upset while describing her dispute with the grandmother. (State’s Ex. 1A, 0:00 – 3:30). The grandmother was sitting on her front porch and explained the custody dispute from her perspective to Mr. Brown. (State’s Ex. 1B, 2:00 – 3:30).

Mr. Brown and Sanchez both told the suspect that the custody dispute would need to be resolved in family court. (State’s Ex. 1A, 3:30 – 4:30; State’s Ex. 1B, 5:00 – 5:45). At grandmother’s request, Mr. Brown retrieved the suspect’s belongings from the house and attempted to hand them to the suspect. (State’s Ex. 1A, 4:45; State’s Ex. 1B, 3:30 – 3:40 & 6:10 – 6:25). The suspect walked past both Mr. Brown and Sanchez and tried to enter the porch where the

grandmother was seated. Mr. Brown grabbed the suspect's arm to stop her from assaulting the grandmother. (State's Ex. 1A, 4:45 – 4:55; State's Ex. 1B, 6:25 – 6:32).

Sanchez testified that he and Mr. Brown both thought the suspect was going to assault the grandmother because she was "charging very aggressively up the stairs" onto the porch where the grandmother was seated. (R. p. 41, l. 19 – p. 42, l. 10). The suspect turned around and pushed Mr. Brown in the chest, causing him to stagger backwards several feet. (State's Ex. 1A, 4:45 – 4:55; State's Ex. 1B, 6:32 – 6:34). Sanchez attempted to grab the suspect's arms and get them behind her, but she spun free and threw Mr. Brown against the wall of the house. (State's Ex. 1A, 4:55 – 5:03; State's Ex. 1B, 6:34 – 6:42).

Mr. Brown and Sanchez wrestled the suspect to the ground to get her under control. Mr. Brown placed his hand on the back of the suspect's neck to bring her to the ground so that he and Sanchez could get her handcuffed. (State's Ex. 1B, 6:42 – 7:15). Sanchez testified that Mr. Brown grabbed the suspect by the head and tried to shove her to the ground while Sanchez tried to "secure her." (R. p. 43, ll. 1 – 18). Sanchez said that Mr. Brown was holding the suspect's head and pinning it "to essentially the dirt" as Sanchez tried to get the suspect handcuffed. (R. p. 43, ll. 19 – 25). Sanchez testified that "when [he] was about to handcuff [the suspect] for the first time, [Mr. Brown] reached up for the throat, neck area at that point in time." (R. p. 44, ll. 13 – 18). Sanchez did not say that Mr. Brown used a chokehold on the suspect.

Once the suspect was successfully handcuffed, Sanchez and Mr. Brown both pulled her to her feet. Mr. Brown pulled the suspect up by her wrists while Sanchez simultaneously pulled the suspect by her arms. (State's Ex. 1A, 5:03 – 5:55; State's Ex. 1B, 7:15 – 7:32). Sanchez then placed the suspect into the back of his patrol car where she continued to be irate. (State's Ex. 1A, 5:55 – 6:35). Mr. Brown safely returned the child to her grandmother. (State's Ex. 1B, 8:30 – 9:00).

After the arrest, Sanchez reported the incident to his supervisor, Diego Lizarazo. Lizarazo initially told Sanchez he “thought that there was really nothing arising out of [the] incident,” but Sanchez insisted that Lizarazo “should look at the video and make a separate assessment.” (R. p. 45, ll. 2 – 22). Sanchez testified that he heard Lizarazo ask Mr. Brown if he needed to go see a doctor because of the incident and that he heard Mr. Brown tell him no. (R. p. 47, ll. 3 – 16). However, Lizarazo later testified that Sanchez was not present when he offered Mr. Brown medical treatment. (R. p. 71, l. 1 – p. 72, l. 20). On cross examination, Sanchez admitted that he filled out a victim sheet naming himself as the victim of an assault by the suspect even though the suspect had not assaulted him. (R. p. 53, l. 17 – p. 55, l. 11). Sanchez also admitted that EMS was never called for the suspect even though she claimed she had been choked. (R. p. 59, l. 4 – 60, l. 11).

Lizarazo testified that he received a call on August 8, 2023, that Mr. Brown and Sanchez were in a fight with a suspect but were okay. (R. p. 67, l. 22 – p. 68, l. 25). Sanchez told Lizarazo that he “might want to look at that video,” and Lizarazo went and spoke with Mr. Brown about the arrest. (R. p. 69, ll. 1 – 11). According to Lizarazo, Mr. Brown showed Lizarazo a scratch on his hand but said that he was fine. (R. p. 69, l. 12 – p. 70, l. 8). Lizarazo testified that Mr. Brown made a comment that he thought the suspect had bitten him on his leg. (R. p. 70, ll. 13 – 24). Lizarazo said that he asked Mr. Brown if he needed EMS or medical attention and Mr. Brown said no. (R. p. 70, l. 25 – 71, l. 18). Even though the Department’s policy requires a personal injury report to be filed on the same day that an officer is injured, Lizarazo admitted that he did not fill out this form until the following day. (R. 89, l. 15 – p. 90, l. 3).

Lizarazo said that later that night he received a call from his supervisor stating that Mr. Brown had called Lizarazo’s supervisor and said that he was in the hospital bleeding profusely from his leg and was severely injured. (R. p. 73, l. 15 – p. 74, l. 6). Lizarazo told his supervisor

that he offered Mr. Brown medical treatment and Mr. Brown declined. Lizarazo claimed that his supervisor told him that Mr. Brown said Lizarazo did not offer medical treatment. (R. p. 74, ll. 7 – 23). Lizarazo told his supervisor that he would have a “sit-down” with Mr. Brown because Mr. Brown was lying about Lizarazo. (R. p. 75, ll. 3 – 16).

The following day, Lizarazo and his supervisor spoke with Mr. Brown and Mr. Brown told them that he had been bitten on his leg and hand during the altercation. Lizarazo claimed that the marks on Mr. Brown’s body did not appear to be bite marks. (R. p. 76, ll. 4 – 14). Lizarazo told Mr. Brown to go see their city doctor. (R. p. 76, l. 15 – p. 77, l. 18). After Mr. Brown went to the doctor, Lizarazo said he tried to get in touch with Mr. Brown. Lizarazo said he tried contacting Mr. Brown, but that it wasn’t until the second or third call that Mr. Brown answered. According to Lizarazo, Mr. Brown said he was still at the doctor. (R. p. 81, l. 2 – p. 82, l. 20).

Lizarazo said that after he spoke with Mr. Brown, Mr. Brown texted him saying that Lizarazo was being rude and disrespectful. Lizarazo claimed that he tried to contact Mr. Brown multiple times after that but that Mr. Brown was not reachable. (R. p. 82, l. 21 – p. 83, l. 6). Lizarazo said he called the city doctor who indicated that Mr. Brown had been checked out of their office at noon. (R. p. 83, ll. 6 – 10). Lizarazo said that he later found out that the doctor had prescribed Mr. Brown medicine and Mr. Brown had gone to the Publix just across the Ashley River from North Charleston to pick up the medicine. (R. p. 83, l. 11 – p. 84, l. 24).

Lizarazo admitted that he allowed his officers to cross the river on a regular basis and that it was common practice. (R. p. 91, l. 19 – p. 92, l. 14). Lizarazo continued to deny having spoken to Mr. Brown multiple times the day after the incident even though Mr. Brown introduced phone records showing that they had spoken multiple times. (R. p. 95, l. 7 – 96, l. 14; R. pp. 182 – 183).

Lizarazo also admitted that his supervisor had authorized Mr. Brown to go home that day after he was treated by the doctor. (R. p. 105, ll. 1 – 18).

Jeremy Ledford was the Sergeant who conducted the internal investigation of the arrest. (R. p. 107, l. 18 – 108, l. 11). Ledford reviewed the body-camera videos, and interviewed Mr. Brown, Sanchez, and Lizarazo. (R. p. 109, ll. 3 – 14). Ledford testified that he believed that Mr. Brown placed his hands around the suspect's throat. (R. p. 109, l. 14 – p. 110, l. 19). Ledford also testified that when he interviewed Mr. Brown, Mr. Brown denied being offered medical treatment for his injuries by Lizarazo. (R. p. 115, l. 5 – p. 116, l. 8).

Mr. Brown told Ledford that he never used a chokehold on the suspect but that his hands moved towards the suspect's upper chest area when he was attempting to get his hands behind the suspect to force her to the ground. (R. p. 116, l. 14 – 117, l. 10). This is consistent with what is seen on the body camera videos which shows Mr. Brown with his hand on the back of the suspect's neck holding her still so that he and Sanchez could get the suspect in handcuffs. (State's Ex. 1A, 5:10 – 5:30; State's Ex. 1B, 6:35 – 7:10). Additionally, Ledford admitted that Mr. Brown was treated by the city doctor for two bites to his body and that it would be safe to say that he was being treated for bites because he was actually bitten. (R. p. 125, l. 16 – p. 127, l. 4).

The Department fired Mr. Brown, citing the events of the arrest and subsequent investigation as the reasons. (R. pp. 148 – 158). This was surprising because Lizarazo's supervisor, Lieutenant Joseph Sherwood, indicated that after his review of the video he believed that "it does look like Officer Brown grabs the suspect by the neck but not in a choking manor but in more of a head clinch to pull her down." (R. p. 185). The separation letter also falsely accused Mr. Brown of using a racial slur towards the suspect, a claim that is clearly refuted by the body camera videos. (R. p. 152; State's Ex. 1A, 4:50 – 5:05; State's Ex. 1B, 6:30 – 6:45).

## ARGUMENT

1.

The ALC erred in finding that Mr. Brown’s due process rights were not violated by the Department’s refusal to provide him with the evidence it intended to use against him prior to his contested case hearing.

### **Relevant Facts**

#### **Agency Hearing**

During the contested case hearing, the Department sought to introduce the video-recorded interview of Mr. Brown. (R. p. 111, ll. 16 – 24). Mr. Brown objected because the Department had never turned over the video to him prior to the hearing even though he had requested it multiple times. (R. p. 111, l. 25 – 112, l. 15). Counsel for the Department responded that because the interview was of Mr. Brown, there would be “no surprise” to Mr. Brown because he was present for his own interview. (R. p. 113, ll. 8 – 15). The Hearing Officer allowed the video to be introduced. (R. p. 114, ll. 3 – 7; State’s Ex. 1C).

After the Department rested its case, Mr. Brown asked the Hearing Officer to be provided with the recorded interviews of Sanchez and Lizarazo that were conducted during the internal investigation. (R. p. 131, ll. 5 – 22). Counsel for the Department responded that Mr. Brown had cross examined Sanchez and Lizarazo thoroughly and that he was “not inclined to go out and get those previous statements and admit them.” Counsel said that “nothing would prohibit cross examination of those witnesses, or even calling them during his case in chief if [Mr. Brown would] like to elicit something else from them.” (R. p. 131, l. 23 – p. 132, l. 5).

The Hearing Officer asked Mr. Brown if he was okay with recalling Sanchez or Lizarazo to ask them about their previous interviews. Mr. Brown told the Hearing Officer: “I have never

seen the interviews. So, I cannot challenge anything they've said in the interviews.” (R. p. 132, ll. 6 – 12). The Hearing Officer then asked Counsel for the Department if these recorded interviews even existed, and Counsel confirmed that both “statements and recorded interviews” of Sanchez and Lizarazo existed. (R. p. 132, ll. 13 – 20).

The Hearing Officer said she would allow Mr. Brown to call Sanchez or Lizarazo back to the witness stand but that she was “not going to compel them to, you know, bring that video forth, just because we're already at this proceeding.” (R. p. 134, ll. 4 – 12). Mr. Brown did not call them back to the stand because, as he had already pointed out, without having seen the videos or statements, he was unable to ask them questions about what they had said in their prior interviews.

After the Hearing Officer submitted her recommendation, Mr. Brown filed an affidavit in opposition to her findings and recommendations. (R. p. 187). Mr. Brown specifically referenced the Department's failure to turn over the videos and written documents in relation to his case to him after he requested them multiple times. (R. pp. 187 – 188). Mr. Brown also argued at his hearing before the Council that the Department had failed to turn over the videos of Sanchez and Lizarazo's interviews to him. (R. p. 209, ll. 2 – 12).

### **Appeal to the ALC**

In his notice of appeal to the ALC, Mr. Brown noted that the Department had failed to turn over discovery that he requested from them which was vital to his defense and a fair hearing. (R. p. 12). Mr. Brown argued to the ALC that his due process rights were violated because he was denied a fair opportunity to challenge the evidence against him by the Department's failure to turn over the evidence it intended to use against him at his contested case hearing. (R. pp. 255 – 259).

In its final order affirming the Agency decision, the ALC construed Mr. Brown's due process argument as suggesting that he was entitled to a higher level of due process than that

required in criminal cases. The ALC pointed to Rule 5(a)(2) of the Rules of Criminal Procedure in stating that “[p]rior statements made by prosecution witnesses are typically withheld until *after* the witness has testified on direct examination and even then are supplied only when a defendant moves the court for production.” (R. p. 296). The ALC concluded:

Given that the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure require less disclosure in criminal cases than [Mr. Brown] contends was due in this administrative proceeding, the Court concludes that the South Carolina Supreme Court’s statement in [*Brown v. S.C. State Bd. of Educ.*, 301 S.C. 326, 329, 391 S.E.2d 866, 867 (1990)] that due process requires disclosure of the evidence used to prove the State’s case means that the State must give a license holder *notice* of the evidence which it intends to use rather than to supply the license holder with physical copies of all evidence it possesses.

(R. p. 296) (internal footnote omitted).

In Mr. Brown’s motion for rehearing, undersigned submitted to the ALC that its comparison between criminal and civil discovery rules was misplaced. (R. pp. 305 – 307). Not only was the ALC’s statement about what “typically” occurs in criminal cases incorrect, the ALC also used this comparison to narrowly, and incorrectly, construe our Supreme Court’s decision in *Brown v. S.C. State Bd. of Educ.*, 301 S.C. 326, 391 S.E.2d 866 (1990). The *Brown* Court was clear that “the evidence used to prove the State’s case [in an administrative proceeding] *must* be disclosed to the individual so that he or she has an opportunity to show it is untrue.” *Brown*, 301 S.C. at 329, 391 S.E.2d at 867 (emphasis added).

In its order denying Mr. Brown’s motion for rehearing, the ALC acknowledged its erroneous statement regarding the standard discovery practices in criminal cases but that its “error, however, does not alter the outcome of the case.” (R. p. 321). Mr. Brown did not rely on any criminal procedure cases to support his due process argument in his brief to the ALC. Nor did the Agency press the argument that the ALC adopted in its ruling. Instead, the ALC raised the

comparison between administrative and criminal cases on its own. Nevertheless, in its order denying Mr. Brown's motion for rehearing, the ALC continued to insist that Mr. Brown was attempting to "impose criminal procedural requirements in a civil administrative proceeding." *Id.*

The ALC went on to find that "[t]he Constitutions of the United States and of South Carolina require certain due process protections in criminal proceedings which are not required in civil proceedings" and that "[t]o accept [Mr. Brown's] argument would be to ignore the distinction between criminal cases and the civil administrative proceeding underlying this appeal." (R. p. 322).

The ALC also concluded that Mr. Brown failed to request the evidence that the Department had against him and that Mr. Brown's "failure to use the discovery tools provided by statute and regulation [were] fatal to his due process claims." (R. p. 297). In Mr. Brown's motion for rehearing, undersigned pointed out that Mr. Brown did request the evidence against him in an earlier proceeding with the Department, but that the Department refused to comply with his requests.<sup>1</sup> (R. p. 306 – 307). In its order denying Mr. Brown's motion for rehearing, the ALC "acknowledge[d] that the record indicates [Mr. Brown] requested certain documents from the police department in the course of collateral proceedings other than the license revocation proceeding currently on review, [but that] these requests [were] insufficient." (R. p. 323) (internal footnote omitted).

---

<sup>1</sup> In relation to Mr. Brown's firing, he had a separate administrative hearing with the South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce which took place before Mr. Brown's hearing with the Criminal Justice Academy. In that case, Mr. Brown served the Department with FOIA requests and subpoenas which the Department refused to comply with. (R. p. 112, ll. 2 – 21).

## Legal Framework

Mr. Brown’s due process rights were violated because he was denied a fair opportunity to challenge the evidence against him by the Department’s failure to turn over any of the evidence it intended to use against him at his contested case hearing.

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