STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT  
Administrative Law Judge Robert L. Reibold

---

ALC Case No. 24-ALJ-30-0425-AP

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jan 07 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Omar Brown, Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy, Respondent.  
Appellate Case No. 2025-001354

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Rebecca S. Williams  
Bar No. 100796  
South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy  
5400 Broad River Road  
Columbia, South Carolina 29212  
(803) 896-7128  
[RWilliams@sccja.sc.gov](mailto:RWilliams@sccja.sc.gov)

Attorney for Respondent

**

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

## ARGUMENT

- 1. The ALC properly ruled Appellant's procedural due process rights were not violated. Appellant was afforded constitutionally adequate procedures and chose not to utilize them.**

The Administrative Law Court's ruling was not "controlled by its misplaced comparison of criminal and civil due process rights." Apl Brf. p. 16 ll. 12-13. Due Process requires confrontation and cross-examination of one whose word deprives a person of his or her livelihood; and disclosure of the evidence used to prove the State's case so that an individual has an opportunity to show it is untrue. *Brown v. S.C. State Bd. of Educ.*, 301 S.C. 326, 391 S.E.2d 866 (1990). The Court ruled that disclosure of evidence "means that the State must give a license holder notice of the evidence which it intends to use rather than to supply the license holder with physical copies of all it possesses." ROA p. 296. In *Brown v. S.C. State Bd. of Educ.*, the South Carolina Supreme Court found several regulations were unconstitutional for violating procedural due process because they required the State Board of Education to accept the determination of any testing company which invalidated a test score and automatically invalidated any teaching certificate based on that test score. The regulation did not allow the effected teacher to have a hearing or have an opportunity to respond. While the Board gave Brown a hearing as a favor, at the hearing the only evidence presented was the testing company's notification that Brown's test score was canceled. There was no evidence or witnesses to support why the test score was canceled. It was held that due process requires "notice and the opportunity for a hearing appropriate to the nature of the case." *Id.* at 329. "[T]he hearing appellant was granted did not comport with procedural due process since the Board did not disclose any evidence

*substantiating cancellation* for the NTE scores in order to allow appellant the opportunity to contest the allegations against her.” *Id.* at 329, 868 (emphasis added).

The Court’s discussion of criminal and civil due process was merely an example of how Appellant’s characterization of procedural due process rights was overreaching. While Appellant equivocated, the Court saw that Appellant promoted a version of procedural due process that would create an affirmative duty on state agencies to disclose any evidence they intended to use in an administrative hearing prior to the hearing regardless of discovery procedures. Considering the Department did not intend to introduce the recorded interviews of Sanchez and Lizarazo, it appears Appellant is advocating that the Department should automatically provide all possible evidence in a case whether they intend to use it or not and whether the Appellant requested it through the appropriate procedures or not. This is more protection than due process requires in a criminal proceeding and is more protection than has ever been required by the courts or either the U.S. or S.C. Constitutions. As the Court clarified in its Order Denying Rehearing, Appellant misunderstood the comparison the Court made. “The Court did not mean to suggest that Appellant was in any way entitled to the due process protections which are constitutionally required in a criminal proceeding. The Court specifically noted that while some states treat license revocation proceedings as quasi-criminal in nature, *e.g.*, *Wills v. Composite State Board of Medical Examiners*, 384 S.E.2d 636, 639 at n. 3 (Ga. 1989) (“[i]n Georgia, medical license revocations are in the nature of criminal proceedings”) (internal quotations and citations omitted), South Carolina does not do so. *See Anonymous (M-156-90) v. State Bd. of Med. Exam’rs*, 329 S.C. 371, 375-78, 496 S.E.2d 17, 19- 20 (1998) (approving use of preponderance of evidence standard in administrative license revocation proceedings rather than the stricter clear and convincing standard required when fraud or quasi-criminal conduct is involved).” ROA

p. 321. Appellant sought to impose procedural due process requirements like those required in criminal proceedings and the Court rejected that South Carolina requires such broad rights in administrative hearings. Therefore, the Court's decision was not based on criminal proceedings, but on the correct understanding of procedural due process rights in administrative proceedings.

Even if the Administrative Law Court's analogy to criminal proceedings was incorrect, the Court additionally found that Appellant's procedural due process rights were not violated because proper procedures were available to Appellant and he chose not to utilize them. Under S.C. Reg. Ann. 37-104 (2018), any party to a contested case hearing may engage in discovery pursuant to that section of the regulations and the Administrative Procedures Act which includes the ability to subpoena witnesses and documents. To succeed on a procedural due process claim, the appellant must show "(1) a cognizable liberty or property interest; (2) the deprivation of that interest by some form of state action; and (3) that the procedures employed were constitutionally inadequate." *Kendall v. Balcerzak*, 650 F.3d 515, 528 (4th Cir. 2011) (citing *Iota Xi Chapter of Sigma Chi Fraternity v. Patterson*, 566 F.3d 138, 145 (4th Cir.2009)) Appellant's argument fails on the third element.

Appellant was notified of his right to subpoena witnesses and documents and was provided with a subpoena form by Respondent. He was also notified what to do to enforce a subpoena. ROA. p. 171-176 He acknowledged he received the subpoena form and knew it was a subpoena form. ROA. p. 112 l. 18-21 As a law enforcement officer he is familiar with subpoenas and in fact served a subpoena on the Department in a different administrative hearing with the South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce (SCDEW), yet he told the hearing officer he did not serve any subpoenas in this contested case hearing because "I didn't know how to do that." ROA. p. 112 ll. 24 – p. 113 ll. 6 While a pro se litigant, Appellant is

required to abide by the same procedural rules as attorneys. “[W]e have never suggested that procedural rules in ordinary civil litigation should be interpreted so as to excuse mistakes by those who proceed without counsel.” *McNeil v. U.S.*, 508 U.S. 106, 113, 113 S.Ct. 1980, 1984 (1993). Appellant was provided due process procedures and chose not to use them.

In *Stinney v. Sumter School Dist. 17*, 391 S.C. 547, 707 S.E.2d 391 (2011), the South Carolina Supreme Court ruled that there was not a procedural due process violation where the statute afforded notice, the opportunity to be heard, the right to be represented by counsel, and the right to present evidence and question witnesses. The Stinney’s two sons were expelled from school due to a fight they were involved in. The Stinneys filed suit alleging the school district’s actions or inactions violated their sons’ due process rights. Because the record showed the Stinneys were provided with the process established in the statute, their failure to use those rights did not create a procedural due process violation. “The record shows the Stinneys were provided with the process established in the statute. The Stinneys chose not to be represented by counsel during the initial hearing, and the fact that they did not present evidence or exercise their statutory right to question witnesses does not create a procedural due process violation.” *Id.* at 551-552. Appellant was properly notified of his right to subpoena the video-recorded interviews and statements but chose not to do so. His choice not to subpoena these documents for the contested case hearing does not create a procedural due process violation.

Appellant argues that he did request the evidence, but in another proceeding.<sup>1</sup> He argues since he requested it from the same Department in other proceedings, any other requests would be futile, but this ignores that there is a procedure to enforce administrative subpoenas. The

<sup>1</sup> Appellant verbally indicated he requested the potential evidence in a hearing before the South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce and under the Freedom of Information Act. ROA p. 113. Appellant never pursued those requests before the Administrative Law Court and did not present any documentation to the Hearing Officer for those requests to made part of the record. ALC Final Order p. 9 footnote 12.

Fourth Circuit has held that a plaintiff typically will not prevail on a procedural due process claim unless the plaintiff has taken advantage of the processes that are available to them. The only way this type of claim would still be viable is if the plaintiff can adequately show those processes are unavailable or patently inadequate. *Strickland v. Moritz*, 149 F.4<sup>th</sup> 378 (4th Cir. 2025). Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-600(F) a party to the proceeding may seek enforcement of or relief from an agency subpoena before the Administrative Law Court. While it is unknown what Appellant was notified of in the other proceedings, in this case Respondent specifically instructed him as to his right to subpoena witnesses to testify and to produce evidence. He was also specifically informed he could enforce subpoenas by filing with the South Carolina Administrative Law Court. ROA p. 172. A copy of the administrative subpoena was provided to Appellant for his use in this proceeding. In this subpoena, it outlines the steps to take when the Department failed to comply. ROA pp. 174-176. Appellant has not presented any information or proof that these procedures were unavailable to him or patently inadequate.

Appellant cites *Brown v. S.C. State Bd. of Educ.*, 301 S.C. 326, 391 S.E.2d 866 (1990) and *Spartanburg v. Parris*, 251 S.C. 187, 161 S.E.2d 228 (1968) to support his position; however, neither case addresses this issue. In *Brown*, the Board of Education alternatively argued that because Brown did not use the appeal process with the testing company that she could not claim a due process violation from the Board's procedures. The Court did not hold that Brown was not required to use the procedures provided, but instead held based on the record, the testing company's procedures did not provide for a hearing where she could confront her accusers. In *Brown*, the procedures provided were patently inadequate and thus her procedural due process claim was upheld. *Id.* at 329-330, 868. In *Spartanburg v. Parris*, 251 S.C. 187, 161 S.E.2d 228 (1968), the South Carolina Supreme Court held Parris's procedural due process rights were

violated because the key evidence against the officer was an affidavit. The Court reasoned that the witness should have been called to testify in person so Parris could cross-examine him. Whether or not Parris took advantage of the procedures available to him was not an issue that was addressed. Whether the procedures were unavailable or patently inadequate was not an issue in the case. In this case, Sanchez and Lizarazo were present and Appellant was given the opportunity to cross-examine them. If Appellant wished to have the witnesses' prior statements to confront them with, he needed to take advantage of the procedures provided. Those procedures were available and adequate to ensure the Department would comply.

**2. The ALC did not err in ruling the Hearing Officer properly excluded extrinsic evidence of a witness's prior statement.**

The ALC reviewed the record and ruled that Appellant was attempting to impeach Sanchez by use of a prior bad act. ROA p. 324. Further, the Court held that Appellant failed to make an offer of proof as is required by Rule 103, SCRE and that even if an error was made, the error was harmless because the evidence in question was cumulative to other evidence already in the record. Later the Court clarified that it could not adequately rule on the issue of prejudice because the Appellant failed to make a valid offer of proof to base its determination on. ROA pp. 323-324. Respondent fully agrees with and adopts the ALC's ruling and reasoning on Rule 103, SCRE and prejudice. ROA pp. 299-300.

Rule 613(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence states “[e]xtrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless the witness is advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made, and the person to whom it was made, and is given the opportunity to explain or deny the statement.” Under the rule, a proper foundation must be laid before admitting a prior inconsistent statement. “It is mandatory that a witness be permitted to admit, deny, or explain a prior inconsistent statement.” *State v. McLeod*, 363 S.C. 73, 81, 606 S.E.2d 215, 219 (Ct. App. 2004) In *McLeod*, the defense wished to impeach an officer when he denied entering into an agreement with a criminal informant. The defense wished to introduce a prior statement where the officer admitted to another officer that he had entered into an agreement with the criminal informant. When the officer was questioned he was asked if he remembered a conversation that took place in the solicitor's office. The impeachment witness testified that the conversation took place on the second floor of the law enforcement center and gave his own interpretation of the officer's statement. The Court of Appeals ruled the trial judge

did not abuse his discretion by excluding the testimony due to a failure to provide sufficient foundation under Rule 613(b). *Id.* at 80-81.

During the contested case hearing, Appellant asked Sanchez if he ever lied under oath or if he had ever deceived a judge to get an affidavit. Sanchez responded, “no” to both questions. Next, Appellant asked if Sanchez was facing a federal complaint that alleged he lied under oath. Sanchez answered yes. Sanchez also testified he disagreed with the allegation. Sanchez denied filling out an affidavit that was untrue. Then Appellant asked if he had phone records when he wrote the affidavit and Sanchez responded that he had some phone records. Finally, Appellant asked if Sanchez had the phone records that he told the judge he had and Sanchez stated “no.” ROA. at p. 61, l. 21 – p. 62, l. 15. Appellant did not mention Sanchez’s deposition in the federal case until he moved to admit it. He never brought up the prior statement with Sanchez clearly. While one with personal knowledge might be able to assume the substance of the statement from Appellant’s previous questions, he did not directly bring up Sanchez’s deposition with him. Appellant did not provide the time and place of the deposition or the person to whom it was made. He also never gave Sanchez the opportunity to admit, explain or deny the statement. The Hearing Officer and opposing counsel were both confused by what Appellant was striving to admit because Appellant failed to provide the necessary foundation. ROA. p. 63, l. 2 – p. 64, l. 17 Therefore it was appropriate for the Hearing Officer to exclude Sanchez’s prior statement.

Appellant also argued that Rule 608(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence required the admission of Sanchez’s prior statement. Rule 608(c) states that evidence of “bias, prejudice, or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced.” SCRE, Rule 608(c). Sanchez’s prior statement in a completely different case, wholly unconnected with Appellant or Appellant’s misconduct is not

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